
 
 

KEENE CITY COUNCIL 
Council Chambers, Keene City Hall 

November 17, 2022 
7:00 PM

 
 
 
    
  ROLL CALL 
    
  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
    
  MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING 
  • November 3, 2022 
    
A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS 
  1. Presentation - Promoting the Monadnock Region Initiative - Greater 

Keene and Peterborough Chamber 
    
B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS 
  1. Nominations - Alternates 

Energy and Climate Committee 
Conservation Commission 

    
C. COMMUNICATIONS 
  1. Downtown Infrastructure Project – Inclusion of Protected Bicycle 

Facilities  - Monadnock Alliance for Sustainable Transportation 
  2. Efforts to Reduce the Risk of Lead Poisoning from Lead Paint - Councilor 

Robert Williams 
    
D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES 
  1. Rules of Order Amendment – Quorum and Remote Participation – City 

Attorney and the More Time Item - Communication from Councilor 
Greenwald Regarding Remote Access 

Page 1 of 78



  2. Donation - Trees at Patricia T. Russell Park - Parks, Recreation and 
Facilities Director 

  3. Donation - to Build the Keene Skatepark - Parks, Recreation and Facilities 
Director 

  4. 12 Gilbo Ave - Lease - Keene Barber - Parks, Recreation and Facilities 
Director 

  5. Engineering Services for Sludge Pump Replacement Project - Change 
Order 1 - Assistant Public Works Director/Operations Manager 

    
E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 
    
F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS 
  1. Acceptance of Donation - Finance Director 
  2. Rules of Order Amendment – Remote Participation – City Attorney 
    
G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS 
  1. Bicycle, Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee – Emphasis on Walking and 

Cycling in the Final Design of Downtown Infrastructure Project 
  2. Energy and Climate Committee - Incorporation of Bicyclist Infrastructure in 

Redesign of Main Street 
    
H. REPORTS - MORE TIME 
    
I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING 
  1. Relating to Personal Leave 

Ordinance O-2022-17 
    
J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING 
  1. Relating to Amendments to the City of Keene Land Development Code -

 Zoning Ordinance - Providing for Amendments to the Conservation 
Residential Development Subdivisions in Rural, Low Density, and Low 
Density 1 Zoning Districts 
Ordinance O-2022-09-B 

  2. Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Code - Zoning 
Ordinance - Business, Growth, and Reuse District – 
Recreational/Entertainment Facility – Indoor 
Ordinance O-2022-11  

Page 2 of 78



  3. Relating to the Use of Central Square Common and Railroad Square 
Ordinance O-2022-14-A 
 

  4. Relating to Notice Requirements for Small Cell Wireless Facility 
Deployments  and  More Time Item - Communications relative to Public 
Health Concerns of Small Cell Wireless Facilities 
Ordinance O-2022-16-A 

    
K. RESOLUTIONS 
    
  NON PUBLIC SESSION 
    
  ADJOURNMENT 

 

Page 3 of 78



Page 4 of 78



Page 5 of 78



Page 6 of 78



Page 7 of 78



Page 8 of 78



Page 9 of 78



Page 10 of 78



Page 11 of 78



Page 12 of 78



Page 13 of 78



Page 14 of 78



Page 15 of 78



Page 16 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #B.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Mayor George S. Hansel 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Nominations - Alternates 

Energy and Climate Committee 
Conservation Commission 

     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. Maxfield, Lisa_Redacted 
2. Swymer, Kenneth_Redacted 
3. Stanish, Lee_Redacted 
  
  
Background: 
I hereby nominate the following individuals to serve on the designated Board or Commission: 
  
  
Energy and Climate Committee  
Lisa Maxfield, slot 12 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2023 
534 Marlboro Street  
  
Kenneth Swymer, slot 14 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2025 
122 Court Street  
  
Conservation Commission  
Lee Stanish, alternate slot 12 Term to expire Dec. 31, 2025 
16 Starlight Drive  
  
 
 

Page 17 of 78



From: Patty Little
To: Heather Fitz-Simon
Subject: FW: FW:Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission
Date: Tuesday, November 15, 2022 11:13:16 AM

 
 

From: messagesolution.ew2@messagesolution.com <messagesolution.ew2@messagesolution.com>
Sent: Tuesday, November 15, 2022 11:13 AM
To: Patty Little <plittle@keenenh.gov>
Subject: FW:Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission
 
<p>Submitted on Mon, 11/07/2022 - 15:55</p>
<p>Submitted values are:</p>
First Name:
Lisa

Last Name:
Maxfield 

Address
534 Marlboro Street, Keene

How long have you resided in Keene?
Almost three years

Cell Phone:

Employer:
West Hill Energy and Computing

Occupation:
Administrative Assistant 

Retired
No

Please list any organizations, groups, or other committees you are involved in
Currently N/A; however, I attended a Keene Clean Energy Team (CET) meeting, but did not
feel like it was a great fit. 

Have you ever served on a public body before?
No

Please select the Boards or Commissions you would be interested in serving on:
Energy and Cli mate Committee

Page 18 of 78

mailto:plittle@keenenh.gov
mailto:hfitzsimon@keenenh.gov


Please share what your interests are and your background or any skill sets that may
apply.
I work for an energy auditing company (we audit entities, such as Efficiency VT and help
inform other projects etc). Administrative tasks are my bailiwick. 

Why are you interested in serving on this committee
Hoping to help affect real energy change in my community.

Please provide 2 personal references: 
Carolyn Jones

References #2:
Kathryn Parlin

Page 19 of 78



From: Patty Little
To: Heather Fitz-Simon
Subject: FW: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission
Date: Thursday, November 3, 2022 2:25:55 PM

 
 

From: helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us <helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us> 
Sent: Thursday, November 3, 2022 1:20 PM
To: Helen Mattson <hmattson@keenenh.gov>
Cc: Patty Little <plittle@keenenh.gov>; Terri Hood <thood@keenenh.gov>
Subject: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission
 
<p>Submitted on Thu, 11/03/2022 - 13:19</p>
<p>Submitted values are:</p>
First Name:
Kenneth

Last Name:
Swymer

Address
122 Court Street

How long have you resided in Keene?
Just recently moved back in August of 2022, but I've lived in Keene a total of 16 years.

Email:

Cell Phone:

Employer:
Oregon Mutual

Occupation:
Underwriting Consultant

Retired
No

Have you ever served on a public body before?
No

Please select the Boards or Commissions you would be interested in serving on:
Energy and Climate Committee

Please share what your interests are and your background or any skill sets that may

Page 20 of 78

mailto:plittle@keenenh.gov
mailto:hfitzsimon@keenenh.gov


apply.
I've been very interested and passionate about alternative clea n energy options/solutions and
helping to drive awareness within the community. I've done this mostly through word of
mouth and participation with local groups, most recently with the North Texas Tesla Owners
Group, which held local events to increase awareness and adoption of electric vehicles and
helped with delivery of new electric vehicles to show new owners the features and capabilities
of the cars. 

Why are you interested in serving on this committee
Climate change and increased adoption of renewable sources of energy is, in my opinion, the
greatest challenge that we face today. Local governments are best situated to help drive
awareness and showcase these solutions within their local communities. Those solutions that
we work together to implement will have lasting impacts not only in our economy, but in our
environment as well. I want to continue to be a part of the education and driving awareness
within my local community and help others see the benefits of renewable energy alternatives
and the positive impacts they can have.

Please provide 2 personal references: 
Zach Luse
zach@paragondigital.com

References #2:
Hans Porschitz

Page 21 of 78

mailto:zach@paragondigital.com


From: Patty Little
To: Heather Fitz-Simon
Subject: Fw: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission
Date: Wednesday, October 26, 2022 5:33:45 AM

From: helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us <helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us> on behalf of City of Keene
<helpdesk@ci.keene.nh.us>
Sent: Tuesday, October 25, 2022 7:41 PM
To: Helen Mattson
Cc: Patty Little; Terri Hood
Subject: Interested in serving on a City Board or Commission
 
<p>Submitted on Tue, 10/25/2022 - 19:41</p>
<p>Submitted values are:</p>
First Name:
Lee

Last Name:
Stanish

Address
16 Starlight Drive

How long have you resided in Keene?
4 months

Email:

Cell Phone:

Employer:
US geological survey

Occupation:
Product owner

Retired

Page 22 of 78

mailto:plittle@keenenh.gov
mailto:hfitzsimon@keenenh.gov


No

Please list any organizations, groups, or other committees you are involved in
None currently

Have you ever served on a public body before?
No

Please select the Boards or Commissions you would be interested in serving on:
Agricultural Commission, Bicycle/Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee, Energy and Climate
Committee

Please share what your interests are and your background or any skill sets that may apply.
I am interested in using science to understand the world around us and to help address real
world problems. I hold a PhD in environmental studies and have conducted extensive research
on how climate change affects biota living in streams. I have also carried out research in
human-made environments such as drinking water distribution systems and bioreactors. I am
interested in renewable energy in all sorts of forms, including algae for biofuels and
microbiota for methane generation. Prior to moving to Keene, I was a volunteer for a county
citizen science program that monitored soil health and really enjoyed helping local farmers
learn more about their soil and becoming more aware of their needs. I am also an avid cyclist
and would love to see more people riding bikes as part of their daily lives.

Why are you interested in serving on this committee
My top choice is the energy and climate committee because I believe I have relevant technical
and life experiences to contribute to this committee. For the bicycle/pedestrian path advisory
committee, I have a strong personal interest and belief in alternative modes of transportation
and in making cities safe places to recreate.

Please provide 2 personal references: 
Aneliya Sakaeva

References #2:
Emily Graham-Swenson

Page 23 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #C.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Will Schoefmann 

Chairman 
MAST Steering Committee 

    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Downtown Infrastructure Project – Inclusion of Protected Bicycle 

Facilities  - Monadnock Alliance for Sustainable Transportation 
     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. MAST Letter of Support_Keene DOWNTOWN INFRA NOV2022 
  
  
Background: 
The MAST Steering Committee strongly urges the inclusion of protected bicycle facilities in the 
Downtown Infrastructure Project as it represents an immense move towards achieving the vision for 
a more sustainable and multimodal transportation system in the region. 

Page 24 of 78



 
  Monadnock Alliance for 
  Sustainable Transportation (MAST) 
   37 Ashuelot Street, Keene, NH 03431 
   www.MASTNH.org 
 

 
November 9, 2022 
 
To: Mayor Hansel and Keene, NH City Council 
Copy: Downtown Infrastructure Project Steering Committee 
City of Keene, NH 
3 Washington Street 
Keene, NH 03431 
 
City of Keene Downtown Infrastructure Project 
 
Dear Honorable Mayor and Council members,  
 
On behalf of the Monadnock Alliance for Sustainable Transportation (MAST), I am writing to express our 
strong support and encouragement for the City of Keene, NH to include improved protected bicycle 
facilities in its Downtown Infrastructure Project.   
 
This project is a once in a lifetime chance to improve the connectivity of not only the City’s current in-
street and separate grade (bike path) facilities but the region’s. The inclusion of bicycles in the downtown 
redesign would create a safer and more reliable multimodal transportation connection between the City’s 
vibrant downtown and connect it to the neighborhoods directly abutting downtown that currently have and 
are slated for further bicycle facilities via roads such as Water Street, Marlboro Street, Washington Street 
and lower Main Street which bring cyclists into and out of Keene’s downtown. One of the Region’s premier 
recreational rail trails, the Cheshire Rail Trail also delivers bicyclists into the heart of the project area and 
connects Keene’s downtown to the wider regional network.   
 
MAST is proud of its successful Complete Street Grant opportunity that the City of Keene as well as other 
municipalities have taken advantage of to develop in-street elements with. We are excited to see the City 
of Keene, NH continue to lead the way in the region and consistently setting the bar for inclusion of bicycles 
in its major roadways as a viable mean’s of our resident’s transportation options. Through the 
implementation of any of option B’s alternatives or option C in the Stantec Design packet provided in the 
online survey the City would be able to accomplish this. These project designs are also directly aligned 
with our Action Plan strategies to expand use and availability of sidewalks and walkways, and to increase 
use and availability of bicycle infrastructure and public transit.   
 
The MAST Steering Committee strongly urges you to consider fully supporting inclusion of protected 
bicycle facilities in the Downtown Infrastructure Project as it represents a immense move towards achieving 
our joint vision for a more sustainable and multimodal transportation system in our region. 
 
Sincerely,  

 
 
 
 
 

Will F. Schoefmann 
Chairman, MAST Steering Committee 

Page 25 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #C.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Councilor Robert Williams 
    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Efforts to Reduce the Risk of Lead Poisoning from Lead Paint - Councilor 

Robert Williams 
     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. Communication_Councilor Williams 
  
  
Background: 
Councilor Williams is requesting that the City investigate steps that could be taken that would be 
appropriate and effective at reducing lead poisoning risks in the community. 
 

Page 26 of 78



 

November 14, 2022 

         Bobby Williams 

         66 North Lincoln Street 

         Keene, New Hampshire 03431 

 

To the Mayor and City Council: 

I am concerned about the presence of lead paint in older homes around Keene. 

Lead is an environmental toxin that can have long-term neurological effects on people who are exposed 

to it, particularly children. The most significant source of lead exposure risk is from dust associated with 

lead-based paint.  

Many older homes around Keene were built before lead paint was outlawed for residential use in 1978 

and are therefore at risk of having lead paint dust inside the house. This is a problem that affects both 

renters and homeowners, as well as landlords – but most of all, lead poisoning affects children, their 

families, and the adults that they grow into. 

Lead hazard abatement projects are expensive, but there is both federal and state money available to 

enable property owners to fund them. A City of Keene effort toward public education, outreach, and 

support could go a long way in terms of encouraging homeowners and landlords to make use of these 

resources.   

There is also community-level funding available through the Department of Housing and Urban 

Development. In 2021, Sullivan County received a $1.7 million federal grant that is being used to fund 

lead abatement projects for 60 housing units. I believe that Keene may be eligible for similar funding. 

I am asking for the City Council to hold a discussion on this topic at the committee level, and to consider 

what steps the City could take that would be appropriate and effective at reducing lead poisoning risk in 

our community. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Bobby Williams 

City Councilor, Ward 2 

 

Page 27 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #D.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Rules of Order Amendment – Quorum and Remote Participation – City 

Attorney and the More Time Item - Communication from Councilor 
Greenwald Regarding Remote Access 

     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 3–1, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends that the City 
Attorney introduce amendments to Section 4 of the Rules of Order, Quorum and Remote 
Participation, as discussed by the Committee.  Councilor Jones voted in opposition. 
 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the more time 
issue regarding the communication from Councilor Greenwald relative to an amendment to the Rules 
of Order dealing with remote access be reported out of Committee. 
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Chair Bosley welcomed comments from the City Attorney, Tom Mullins. He said this matter was 
about Section Four of the Council Rules of Order, titled Quorum and Remote Participation. The 
Council and this Committee requested an additional look at this item. This began initially as a 
communication from Councilor Mitch Greenwald requesting to talk about the possibility of adding 
some additional reasons to permit remote participation. As a result of that discussion, it became clear 
that the issue was less about what the reasons might be and more so about the process of making a 
request for remote participation. For the public’s sake, the City Attorney explained that there is a 
provision in State Law RSA 91-A which provides a political body the opportunity to grant a request for 
remote participation, which everyone became familiar with during Covid-19. However, the remote 
participants cannot constitute a quorum of the public body and the quorum must be present 
physically in the room before remote participation is allowed. Based on the Committee’s last 
discussion of this, the City Attorney drafted language focused on allowing notification to the City 
Clerk to allow remote participation. This is critical because it is the City Clerk who would need to 
place the matter on the agenda for review by the public body, which must have the opportunity to 
debate allowing a specific remote participation request.  At this point, the City Clerk was being tasked 
with taking the appropriate action to provide for electronic or telephonic access. The City Clerk must 
be notified at least 24 hours in advance, which was already written in the Ordinance language. 

Page 28 of 78



Beyond the technological issues, it is important to have advance notice to ensure there will be a 
quorum present physically in the room, and 24 hours gives the City Clerk that time. Once that occurs, 
the issue will appear before the public body for any objections. If there were an objection, per 
Councilor Ormerod’s suggestion, it would require a two thirds majority vote to deny a request. This is 
to remove any sort of political considerations that may be associated with protecting everyone 
concerned. 
  
Chair Bosley welcomed the City Clerk, Patty Little, who said she was appreciative of the language 
about the 24-hour notice requirement and that if this language was adopted it would change a 
practice her office had used since starting with remote meetings. When a 24-hour notice is provided, 
the Rules require that the Clerk will provide the meeting link to the Councilor.  The Clerk noted that 
on the few occasions when she has not received 24 hours notice, she has provided the Councilor 
with the meeting link with the understanding that the Council would need to suspend the Rules of 
Order.  If this Rule change is adopted, and the 24 hour notice is not provided, the Clerk will no longer 
provide the meeting link.  The City Clerk would prefer that this rule never be suspended because 24 
hours is the standard notice, not only to ensure sufficient time to determine that a quorum will be 
present, but if there should not be a quorum, she would need time to notify the media, contact 
support staff, and try to reach the public who were attending to advise them the meeting was being 
canceled. 
  
Chair Bosley thanked the City Attorney and City Clerk. The Chair had spoken with Councilor 
Greenwald because he could not attend this meeting. She said he reviewed this language and was 
comfortable with the draft. Chair Bosley continued stating that she felt this draft was an improvement, 
citing the challenges of how confusing the process had become.   
  
Vice Chair Giacomo recalled that he was the one who most recently was confused about what a 24-
hour notice entailed. He thought this draft was a great clarification and that it was good to have a 
strict cut-off. 
  
There were no public comments. 
  
A motion by Vice Chair Giacomo to recommend that the City Attorney introduce amendments to 
Section 4 of the Rules of Order as discussed by the Committee was duly seconded by Councilor 
Jones. 
  
Councilor Jones said he liked the clarity of the language, but he had been against remote access 
since the beginning. He said we did not have it for 60 years and there was never a problem, so he 
would be voting no. 
  
On a vote of 3–1, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends that the City 
Attorney introduce amendments to Section 4 of the Rules of Order, Quorum and Remote 
Participation, as discussed by the Committee.  Councilor Jones voted in opposition. 
 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee reported out the more time 
issue regarding the communication from Councilor Greenwald relative to an amendment to the Rules 
of Order dealing with remote access. 

Page 29 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #D.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Donation - Trees at Patricia T. Russell Park - Parks, Recreation and 

Facilities Director 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a 4-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept donations of money for the purchase of 
trees for the Patricia T. Russell Park project.  
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Parks Recreation and Facilities Director Andy Bohannon addressed the Committee and stated the 
first item is a potential donation that is coming from Gentle Dental. Gentle Dental is opening a new 
facility and, in an effort to bring in new patients, they will be donating a tree or $57 for each new 
client.  The donated trees will be for Russell Park. This promotion will run through the end of 
December and is anticipated to bring in about $5,000 in donations. 
 
Councilor Remy asked whether there were any stipulations with reference to the choice of tree. Mr. 
Bohannon stated the City will choose the trees, and there will be a marker added that the tree was 
donated by Gentle Dental. 
 
Councilor Lake made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison. 
 
On a 4-0 roll call vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the 
City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept donations of money for the purchase 
of trees for the Patricia T. Russell Park project. 

Page 30 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #D.3. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Donation - to Build the Keene Skatepark - Parks, Recreation and Facilities 

Director 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a 4-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept a donation of $17,566.16 for the purpose 
of building a new skate park.  
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Mr. Bohannon noted that he was before the Committee to accept a donation of $17,566.16 for the 
purpose of building the new skate park.   Mr. Bohannon added the Committee may recall that last 
year the City had accepted a donation of $200,000 from the Keene Skate Park group through their 
fiscal agent, Pathways for Keene.  Pathways for Keene has recently closed their account for the 
skate park to allow the group to shift their focus to fundraising for the Transportation Heritage Trail 
project. In total, the project currently has $242,566.16 towards their goal of $300,000. The park is 
being designed at the $225,000 level, which was the fund level available when the contract was 
signed with the consultant, Spohn Ranch. 
 
Councilor Madison made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Remy. 
 
On a 4-0 roll call vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the 
City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to accept a donation of $17,566.16 for the 
purpose of building a new skate park. 
  

Page 31 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #D.4. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: 12 Gilbo Ave - Lease - Keene Barber - Parks, Recreation and Facilities 

Director 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a 4-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a lease with John Brown 
and John Destromp for the space located at 12 Gilbo Avenue.  
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
Mr. Bohannon addressed the Committee again and stated that the Keene Barber at 12 Gilbo Avenue 
has its lease expiring in March 2023. He has a new stylist in the shop who would like to become his 
partner.   Instead of waiting for the lease expiration in March, staff is bringing forward a new lease to 
reflect the partnership.   This lease would be a two-year lease with a one-year option and will utilize 
the same lease terms.   
 
Councilor Remy made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison. 
 
On a 4-0 roll call vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the 
City Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute a lease with John 
Brown and John Destromp for the space located at 12 Gilbo Avenue. 

Page 32 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #D.5. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Engineering Services for Sludge Pump Replacement Project - Change 

Order 1 - Assistant Public Works Director/Operations Manager 
     
  
Recommendation: 
On a 4-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute Change Order 1 with 
Underwood Engineers to perform additional services for an amount not to exceed $7,500 for Contract 
02-21-11.  
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
 
Asst. Public Works Director/Operations Manager Aaron Costa addressed the Committee next with a 
request for a change order with Underwood Engineers for an amount not to exceed $750,000. He 
explained the Wastewater Treatment Plant at the present time is working on a capital project to 
replace six sludge pumps. The City contracted with Underwood Engineers a year ago for design and 
construction services. At that time, the contract did not include services to comply with the New 
Hampshire Department of Environmental Services State Aid Grant (SAG) program requirements. 
This project is SAG eligible and could potentially fund up to 20% or approximately $76,000 of the 
construction cost of the project, but to remain eligible the City must comply with all NHDES 
requirements. As a result, there are some additional engineering services to do that. In addition, 
during the design process, a potential cost savings was identified by replacing six pumps with five 
and having one pump perform both scum and sludge pumping. 
 
However, this pump should be equipped with a variable frequency drive that was not included in the 
original design. This additional work will cost approximately $7,500. 
  
Councilor Lake made the following motion, which was seconded by Councilor Madison. 
 
On a 4-0 vote, the Finance, Organization and Personnel Committee recommends that the City 
Manager be authorized to do all things necessary to negotiate and execute Change Order 1 with 

Page 33 of 78



Underwood Engineers to perform additional services for an amount not to exceed $7,500 for Contract 
02-21-11. 

Page 34 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #F.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Merri Howe, Finance Director/Treasurer 
    
Through: Elizabeth Dragon, City Manager 
     
Subject: Acceptance of Donation - Finance Director 
     
  
Recommendation: 
Move that the City Council accept the donation below and the City Manager be authorized to use 
each donation in the manner specified by the donor. 
  
Attachments: 
None  
  
Background: 
The City of Keene receives donations from many sources throughout the year that are brought 
forward to the City Council for acceptance with gratitude. 
  
On Wednesday, October 19, the City hosted Spohn Ranch for the first design meeting with the 
public.  Thirty-seven (37) interested park users attended and brought forward their ideas to the 
consultant. As a result of the meeting, a donation was made from Samuel Faller for $50 toward the 
construction of the skate park. 

Page 35 of 78



CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE

ITEM #F.2. 

Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 

To: Mayor and Keene City Council 

From: Thomas Mullins, City Attorney 

Through: 

Subject: Rules of Order Amendment – Remote Participation – City Attorney 

Recommendation: 
That the City Council consider the attached proposed amendments to Section 4. Quorum and 
Remote Participation to the City Council Rules of Order.   

Attachments: 
1. SECTION_4.___Quorum and Remote Participation - Bold and Strike through
2. SECTION_4.___Quorum and Remote Participation - Redlined Version

Background: 
On November 9, 2022, on a vote of 3–1, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee 
recommended that the City Attorney introduce the attached proposed amendments to Section 4 of 
the City Council Rules of Order. 

Page 36 of 78



   Created: 2022-08-02 08:58:59 [EST]

(Supp. No. 34)

Page 1 of 1

SECTION 4.  QUORUM AND REMOTE PARTICIPATION.

The majority of the Councilors elected shall constitute a quorum. Roll call attendance will be taken before the start 
of all meetings of the City Council. In the event that a quorum is not achieved, the meeting shall be rescheduled by 
the Mayor or the Temporary Chair (“Chair”). Unless otherwise permitted by law, a quorum shall be present at the 
physical location of the meeting. One or more members, but less than a quorum, may participate in the meeting 
electronically or telephonically when permitted to do so by the Mayor or the City Council, and when their physical 
attendance is not reasonably practical, provided that all members of the public body, and the public, can hear 
and/or be permitted to speak to each other. Remote participation by members is discouraged. A member wishing 
to participate remotely must notify the City Clerk at least 24 hours prior to the meeting or remote participation 
shall not be permitted.  Upon such notification, the City Clerk shall take appropriate action to provide for remote 
electronic or telephonic access by the member to the meeting, and shall provide the requesting member with 
the information necessary to access the meeting.  At the time appointed for the meeting, the Chair shall 
recognize the member requesting remote participation.  AnyThe member participating remotely shall state for 
the minutes the reason for their non-attendancerequest, and shall identify any other person(s) present in the 
location from which the member is participating. The Chair shall call for any objection to the request for remote 
participation.  In the absence of objection, the request shall be granted.  If there is objection, the request shall 
be placed before the City Council for a vote.  The denial of the request shall require a 2/3 roll call vote of the 
members present.  If one or more members are participating remotely in the meeting, Aall votes shall be by roll 
call. Physical attendance shall be deemed to not be "reasonably practical" in the event of serious health issues, 
disability, out of town employment responsibilities, or otherwise permitted in the reasonable discretion of the 
public body. The foregoing Rule with respect to a quorum and remote participation shall also apply to participation 
in Committee meetings of the City Council. 

Page 37 of 78



   Created: 2022-08-02 08:58:59 [EST]

(Supp. No. 34)

Page 1 of 1

SECTION 4.  QUORUM AND REMOTE PARTICIPATION.

The majority of the Councilors elected shall constitute a quorum. Roll call attendance will be taken before the start 
of all meetings of the City Council. In the event that a quorum is not achieved, the meeting shall be rescheduled by 
the Mayor or the Temporary Chair (“Chair”). Unless otherwise permitted by law, a quorum shall be present at the 
physical location of the meeting. One or more members, but less than a quorum, may participate in the meeting 
electronically or telephonically when permitted to do so by the Mayor or the City Council, and when their physical 
attendance is not reasonably practical, provided that all members of the public body, and the public, can hear 
and/or be permitted to speak to each other. Remote participation by members is discouraged. A member wishing 
to participate remotely must notify the City Clerk at least 24 hours prior to the meeting or remote participation 
shall not be permitted.  Upon such notification, the City Clerk shall take appropriate action to provide for remote 
electronic or telephonic access by the member to the meeting, and shall provide the requesting member with the 
information necessary to access the meeting.  At the time appointed for the meeting, the Chair shall recognize the 
member requesting remote participation.  TheAny member participating remotely shall state for the minutes the 
reason for their non-attendance request, and shall identify any other person(s) present in the location from which 
the member is participating. The Chair shall call for any objection to the request for remote participation.  In the 
absence of objection, the request shall be granted.  If there is objection, the request shall be placed before the City 
Council for a vote.  The denial of the request shall require a 2/3 roll call vote of the members present.  If one or 
more members are participating remotely in the meeting, Aall votes shall be by roll call. Physical attendance shall 
be deemed to not be "reasonably practical" in the event of serious health issues, disability, out of town 
employment responsibilities, or otherwise permitted in the reasonable discretion of the public body. The foregoing 
Rule with respect to a quorum and remote participation shall also apply to participation in Committee meetings of 
the City Council. 

Page 38 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #G.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Drew Bryenton and Todd Horner 

Chair and Vice Chair of the Bicycle Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee 
    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Bicycle, Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee – Emphasis on Walking and 

Cycling in the Final Design of Downtown Infrastructure Project 
     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. BPPAC Letter to City Council re Downtown Project 2022 
  
  
Background: 
The Bicycle Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee is recommending that the downtown infrastructure 
project emphasize walking and cycling in the final project design.   The Committee has identified 
several features, such as protected bike lanes at sidewalk grade, and increased sidewalk widths. 

Page 39 of 78



TO: Mayor and City Council 

CC: Downtown Infrastructure Steering Committee 

FROM: Bicycle and Pedestrian Pathway Advisory Committee 

DATE: November 11, 2022 

RE: Downtown Reconstruction Project – Input and Recommendations 

Dear Mayor Hansel and Honorable Councilmembers, 

As you are aware, Keene’s downtown will be undergoing major construction in the near future to fix and 
replace underground utilities. The project will create significant challenges during the construction period, 
but also represents a once in a generation opportunity to reimagine public space in the heart of our 
community and to create a downtown that is not just great, but world class. The City of Keene Bicycle 
and Pedestrian Pathway Advisory Committee (BPPAC) believes that a key component to realizing the 
full potential of this opportunity is to emphasize walking and cycling in the final project design. This 
letter summarizes the reasons why we believe this to be so and outlines recommendations regarding 
design features. 

Rebuilding downtown as a place that fully supports the needs and preferences of those traveling on foot, 
by bike, or via wheelchair would produce a wide array of benefits. Here are a few examples: 

• Enhanced economic productivity. A host of research provides evidence that walkability and
bikeability help boost property values, increase retail sales, attract young workers, and reduce
transportation expenses (thereby freeing up income for use on other purchases). Our downtown
also lies at the center of an extensive rail trail network, creating substantial potential for tourist
activity associated with walking and cycling. This potential was well documented in a report
authored by UNH Cooperative Extension, which was accepted by City Council’s Municipal
Services, Facilities, and Infrastructure Committee in April 2022.

• Reduced greenhouse gas emissions. In the United States, transportation is the leading source of
greenhouse gas emissions, largely from personal vehicles. Vehicle electrification on its own will
not be enough to meet the city’s official goal of achieving net zero carbon emission in all sectors,
including transportation, by 2050.

• A downtown that welcomes everyone no matter your age or ability. Whether you’re an older
adult using a mobility aid, a wheelchair user, a parent pushing a stroller, or a kid riding a bike,
downtown should be a place that you can safely and conveniently navigate. Universal
accessibility will become increasingly important as the number of older adults in our city grows
in the years to come.

• An improved experience for motorists. Yes, walkable and bikeable environments can benefit
drivers too. If more people choose to walk and bike downtown because it’s safe, enjoyable, and
convenient, that means fewer cars on the road and less congestion. Also, let’s remember that
every motorist is also at some point a pedestrian during their journey to the front door of a
downtown store or restaurant.

With these benefits in mind, BPPAC would like to suggest several features that we believe should be 
incorporated into the final project design. All of them are included in one or more of the preliminary 
scenarios developed by Stantec, the consulting firm engaged by the city to serve as lead on the project. 
We endorse the following: 

Page 40 of 78

https://nacto.org/docs/usdg/walking_the_walk_cortright.pdf
https://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/downloads/pdf/2012-10-measuring-the-street.pdf#page=4
https://cdn.nar.realtor/sites/default/files/documents/2017%20Analysis%20and%20slides.pdf
https://www.vtpi.org/walkability.pdf#page=9
https://www.vtpi.org/walkability.pdf#page=9
https://extension.unh.edu/resource/strengthening-connections-downtowns-trails-keene-nh-2022
https://extension.unh.edu/resource/strengthening-connections-downtowns-trails-keene-nh-2022
https://keenenh.gov/sites/default/files/2022-05/2022_04_27_MSFI_Minutes_Adopted.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions
https://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/sources-greenhouse-gas-emissions
https://keenenh.gov/sites/default/files/Community%20Development/ECC/Keene%20Sustainable%20Energy%20Plan%20Jan%202021%20with%20appendices.pdf#page=109


• Protected bike lanes at sidewalk grade, as pictured in Option 2B and Option 3 of the Main Street
design alternatives. Parked cars provide a physical barrier between cyclists and moving traffic. A
curb, meanwhile, provides assurance that parked cars won’t encroach on bike lanes. Also, we
recommend protected bike lanes running along either edge of Main Street over a multiuse path
running through the center, as depicted in Option 2C. Such a path doesn’t grant cyclists access to
Main Street establishments, since they must cross traffic to do so.

• Increased sidewalk widths. All the preliminary design alternatives widen sidewalks over existing
conditions. We applaud this proposed change since it will open opportunities for outdoor dining
while also improving accessibility in areas in front of shops.

• A single lane of vehicle traffic in each direction on Main Street, as proposed in Option 3 of the
Main Street design alternatives. Today, one of the greatest hazards facing pedestrians in our
downtown is a lack of visibility at crosswalks. A vehicle in one lane can block the view of a
motorist traveling in the other lane, rendering a pedestrian in a crosswalk invisible until the last
moment. Reducing vehicle traffic to a single lane would eliminate this hazard. It would also
provide other benefits, such as reduced vehicle speeds. The City of Concord, NH provides a good
example of implementing this measure in a Main Street reconstruction project. Reduction in the
number of vehicle lanes enhanced the pedestrian experience without negatively impacting
motorist access to downtown.

• Restructure the traffic pattern in Central Square so that park expands and connects with sidewalk
space on the northern edge of the square. Options 2 through 4 of the Central Square design
alternatives include this change. Today, Central Square looks nice, but it’s underutilized, due in
large part to the fact that it’s surrounded by a cyclone of traffic. Connecting the park to the
northern edge of the square would encourage use of this green space, which is a rare commodity
in our downtown. Enhancing the park would also increase the appeal of dining at restaurants and
visiting stores located on the square.

• A raised intersection at Main Street, Gilbo Avenue, and Railroad Street, and shown in Option 2b
of the Gilbo Avenue design alternatives. This design feature would enhance east-west
connectivity for pedestrians and cyclists traveling along the Cheshire Rail Trail. It would also
create a plaza-like environment that would calm vehicle traffic and serve as a distinctive gateway
to upper Main Street.

The BPPAC appreciates city council’s time and consideration of our recommendations. We hope this 
letter helps illustrate why prioritizing bicycle and pedestrian infrastructure makes good sense from an 
economic, environmental, and social perspective. We believe this project has immense potential to shape 
our downtown for the better. It’s conceivable, perhaps even likely, that this opportunity won’t come again 
for another century. Let’s seize the moment. 

Sincerely, 

Members of the City of Keene Bicycle and Pedestrian Pathway Advisory Committee 

Drew Bryenton, Chair 

______________________________________ 

Todd Horner, Vice-Chair 

______________________________________ 

Page 41 of 78

https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/0233a7f3f4b760a1d300bdcf592ac434896b9240fec7d3942b2e85f799b8ace3/67942/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_Main_Street.pdf#page=7
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/0233a7f3f4b760a1d300bdcf592ac434896b9240fec7d3942b2e85f799b8ace3/67942/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_Main_Street.pdf#page=9
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/0233a7f3f4b760a1d300bdcf592ac434896b9240fec7d3942b2e85f799b8ace3/67942/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_Main_Street.pdf#page=8
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/0233a7f3f4b760a1d300bdcf592ac434896b9240fec7d3942b2e85f799b8ace3/67942/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_Main_Street.pdf#page=9
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/d9c17b35b5373ac707cd3b957ea168b939c2254e2fc15474767915cf82e8c42c/67944/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_central_square.pdf#page=3
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/d9c17b35b5373ac707cd3b957ea168b939c2254e2fc15474767915cf82e8c42c/67944/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_central_square.pdf#page=3
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/5d2f71d5dd614cc3ce05308c19263aa9879901e6fb21c1ae5eff83036ff057c7/67943/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_GIlbo.pdf#page=5
https://s3-us-west-2.amazonaws.com/mysocialpinpoint/uploads/redactor_assets/documents/5d2f71d5dd614cc3ce05308c19263aa9879901e6fb21c1ae5eff83036ff057c7/67943/2022-10-06_Keene_Public_Workshop_GIlbo.pdf#page=5


 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #G.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Peter Hansel 

Chair Energy and Climate Committee 
    
Through: Patricia Little, City Clerk 
     
Subject: Energy and Climate Committee - Incorporation of Bicyclist Infrastructure in 

Redesign of Main Street 
     
  
Recommendation:  
  
Attachments: 
1. Letter of Support_ECC_Bicycle Infrastructure 
  
  
Background: 
The Energy and Climate Committee voted unanimously to recommend that bicyclist infrastructure, 
such as separated bicycle lanes, be incorporated into the redesign of Main Street.  

Page 42 of 78



Page 43 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #I.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Elizabeth Fox, ACM/Human Resources Director 
    
Through: Elizabeth Dragon, City Manager 
     
Subject: Relating to Personal Leave 

Ordinance O-2022-17 
     
  
Recommendation: 
 
That the City Council refer Ordinance O-2022-17 to the Finance, Organization, and Personnel 
Committee for their review and recommendation. 
  
Attachments: 
1. Ordinance O-2022-17 
  
  
Background: 
 
City Code provides a personal leave day to regular full-time employees for “perfect attendance” for 
each non-overlapping three (3) month period during which the employee takes no sick leave. The 
date on which the three (3) month period begins to run is modified each time the employee takes sick 
leave.    Accordingly, this methodology establishes a different rolling date on when the “perfect 
attendance” period begins and ends in order to calculate when a personal day has been 
earned.  This calculation methodology is not supported by the new MUNIS software system, and the 
method has been cumbersome to administer in the city’s current software. 
  
To support the transition to the MUNIS software for payroll, modification of the methodology for 
provision of personal leave for perfect attendance is recommended.  This proposed amendment to 
City Code will establish fixed calendar year quarterly measurement periods to be used to determine 
“perfect attendance” and eligibility for personal leave.  If during the established period (based on 
calendar year quarters beginning with January 1 to March 31) an employee has perfect attendance 
following processing of all payroll for that quarter, the employee would be awarded a personal 
day.    The proposed methodology standardizes across the organization the perfect attendance 
measurement periods as well as the time line for award and lapsing of personal leave.   In addition to 
establishing fixed periods for consideration of perfect attendance, the proposed code amendment 
provides employees additional flexibility setting leave use dates of June 30 and December 31.   
 
To accommodate the transition from individual dates which vary from employee to employee to fixed 

Page 44 of 78



quarterly measurement periods for “perfect attendance”, following processing of the first payroll in the 
MUNIS software, each eligible employee shall be awarded one day of personal leave. 

Page 45 of 78



Page 46 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.1. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to Amendments to the City of Keene Land Development Code -

 Zoning Ordinance - Providing for Amendments to the Conservation 
Residential Development Subdivisions in Rural, Low Density, and Low 
Density 1 Zoning Districts 
Ordinance O-2022-09-B 

     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 3–1, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the adoption of 
Ordinance O-2022-09-B, and the revision of Section 19.3.6.C.1.b regarding workforce housing 
resale value, as discussed by the Committee. Councilor Jones voted in opposition. 
  
Attachments: 
1. Ordinance O-2022-09-B 
2. Ordinance O-2022-09-B - Redlined 
  
  
Background: 
Chair Bosley recalled that there was a public hearing on this matter at the last City Council meeting 
and so no further public comments would be heard at this meeting.  
  
The Chair welcomed the Community Development Director, Jesse Rounds, and Senior Planner, Mari 
Brunner. Ms. Brunner recalled that there were several concerns and questions posed at the public 
hearing that Staff wanted to address. The first item Ms. Brunner wanted to discuss was a question 
about the impact that these proposed changes to the Planning Board Subdivision Regulations would 
have on taxes and taxation. She said she spoke with the City Assessor, Dan Langille, who said the 
potential for a CRD subdivision would not have any impact at all on how land is taxed or assessed. 
She said this is because changing the Planning Board’s Subdivision regulations is a very different 
thing than changing the minimum lot size in the Zoning Ordinance. She said that once Staff removed 
the part of the Ordinance that would have changed the minimum lot size from five-to-two acres, that 
eliminated any potential impact on taxes, which Ms. Brunner wanted to clarify. She said it can be 
confusing because there are lot sizes in the CRD regulations but those are outside the Zoning 
Ordinance and have no impact on taxes.  
  
The second item Ms. Brunner heard some comments and questions about at the public hearing 

Page 47 of 78



indicated that there was still some confusion as to what Staff meant when they talked about 
workforce housing. She said one of the density incentives is for workforce housing and she clarified 
that workforce housing is not meant for the homeless population. It is not geared toward low-income 
or subsidized housing. According to the Pew Research Center’s income calculator, workforce 
housing is for a middle-class income for a family of four in Cheshire County. This is about lower 
middle-class families.  
  
Next, Ms. Brunner wanted to respond to a public question about whether a 30,000 square foot lot is 
sufficient in the Rural District to site a house, septic system, and a well. Ms. Brunner said that was an 
excellent question and in some cases that would not be sufficient space, which is why it is a 
minimum size. There are still many other regulations and the CRD regulations sit on top of those. 
When subdividing, one must demonstrate compliance, and in some cases 32,000 square feet will not 
be sufficient depending on the underlying soils. Additionally, Ms. Brunner clarified that if a parcel of 
land does not have access to City sewer, and a subdivision would create a new lot that is less than 
five acres, the subdivision would require approval from the NH Department of Environmental 
Services (DES) to ensure adequate septage. In addition, when it comes time to design that septic 
system, it would require DES approval again before they permit construction and operation of the 
septic system. Ms. Brunner said there is a high level of review by the State on septic systems in 
addition to local regulations.  
  
Finally, Ms. Brunner clarified that CRDs are not normal subdivisions. A CRD requires the formation of 
a homeowners’ association or condo association. This is because someone must oversee 
maintenance of the open space created and the shared infrastructure. Often, there are shared 
drainage systems or shared private utilities that must be managed. Thus, Ms. Brunner said the CRD 
becomes much more powerful, and it is likely that a developer would include shared wells and septic 
systems, which is a more efficient use of the space. Ms. Brunner continued conventional subdivisions 
must have a certain amount of frontage on the road and all new parcels created have their access 
from an interior road or interior shared driveway; and they can receive a waiver from having a road 
from the Planning Board. She said if there were a CRD on Hurricane Road, then all other driveways 
would come off an interior road that connects to Hurricane Road.  
  
The City Attorney understood there was another language clarification. Ms. Brunner agreed, citing 
another speaker who brought this up. She said that in the current Ordinance, under the Workforce 
Housing Density Incentive criteria for owner-occupied units, it talks about what the resale value of 
workforce housing can be. It says that you have 30 years where the resale value is limited to either 
the affordable purchase price or the initial purchase price plus two times the accumulated Consumer 
Price Index (CPI). The CPI is a measure of inflation. The initial purchase price plus one times the CPI 
would essentially mean no loss. By saying two times the CPI it means money can be earned. It was 
intended for the Ordinance language to indicate the greater of those two options, but the current 
language is too vague, stating, “The resale value of the unit shall be restricted to the affordable 
purchase price for a period of 30 years. The resale value is not to be more than the original purchase 
price plus two times the accumulated CPI.” She said those two sentences were unclear. Staff 
suggested the following proposed language, “For a period of 30 years, the resale value of the unit 
shall be restricted to either the affordable purchase price or the initial purchase plus two times the 
accumulated CPI, whichever is greater.” This clarified the true meaning of the language. She shared 
some examples of what this looks like in practice.  
  
Chair Bosley said she heard at the public hearings before Council and the Joint Committee a 
reference to the amount of property that was currently available for sale in the City of Keene. She felt 
like it was important for the public to understand what the real constraint is on the availability of 
housing currently in our community. Based on her research, she found 17 homes for sale in Keene 
and out of those homes, many were mobile and on rented lots, and some were not livable. There 

Page 48 of 78



were seven properties between $200,000–$300,000 and three of those were two-bedroom homes, 
which she said is very difficult for a family to occupy. There were three homes between $300,000–
$400,000 and three homes over $400,000. She said that for Keene, that is all that is available for a 
City of over 20,000 people; that is not a feasible market that would sustain us. She said it was 
creating so much pressure on all the different markets and it is part of why some of these costs rise 
continuously, pushing lower income families out of the community. She said it was a stale market 
where people cannot move, and the entire community was gridlocked. She said we must help not 
only in the Rural District but in the downtown districts as well. The Chair thought this was a way to 
promote additional growth, which is a problem City Staff would continue working on. She said this 
was not the last Resolution and that a housing study was coming, which she expected to align 
anecdotally with what they were hearing. The Chair thought this was a great thing.  
  
Councilor Jones thanked Ms. Brunner for clearing up some things up for him. He recalled the 
revaluation process and asked, if two people have six-acre lots, and one has the frontage with the 
ability to subdivide and the other did not, whether they would still be equal in value. Ms. Brunner 
replied that with this Ordinance, in the specific scenario the Councilor cited, there would be zero 
impact on taxes, which the City Assessor told her point blank—CRD subdivisions are not considered 
during land valuation and determining tax rates. She said there are too many unknown variables for a 
CRD in the Rural District. The starting tract must be minimally 10 acres, so a six-acre lot would not 
be eligible for a CRD. This Ordinance does not affect properties under 10 acres in the Rural District. 
Chair Bosley also pointed out that any lots over 10 acres would be eligible for a current use land use 
land abatement. Councilor Jones said that was based on the City Assessor, but that real estate 
market values were something the City could not control. Ms. Brunner did not think so. Chair Bosley 
said she spoke personally with the City Assessor because she wanted to understand this. The 
Assessor reiterated what Ms. Brunner told the Committee, which is that CRDs are not taken into 
consideration whatsoever. She continued that anything under 10 acres would have zero affect and 
any lot over 10 acres could be put into current use, which would also negate any ability to have any 
land zoning changes affect a property. She said this clarified things for her. 
 
The City Manager said that since the minimum lot size change was removed for a future potential 
Ordinance conversation, she said the only time a CRD would impact the value of a property is when 
they actually do a CRD development because it is impossible to know which parcels might do a 
CRD. This change in Zoning would not impact the assessment. It will not change the value of a 
property until someone implements it. 
  
Councilor Ormerod appreciated the examples that Staff provided. He asked a clarifying question 
under the fifth bullet point, where it listed the initial price plus two times the CPI followed by the 
affordable purchase price, and those are different numbers. Ms. Brunner said exactly, and Councilor 
Ormerod asked why that was. Ms. Brunner said the initial sale price must be whatever the affordable 
purchase price is for that year; the affordable purchase price is what HUD says a family of four in 
Cheshire County could afford at 80% of the area median income. Those numbers are published 
annually, and they change year-to-year. Ms. Brunner continued describing the calculations in the 
example one of the handouts she provided to the Committee, in which she said the owner in that 
instance would do better to sell the house at the affordable price for that year. In example number 
two, she said it was the same math but accounted for this year’s inflation, and in this case the owner 
could choose the higher of the two prices. 
 
Chair Bosley said she was a visual person, so the examples were helpful in clarifying and she 
appreciated the extra time the Staff put into them. 
  
Vice Chair Giacomo asked a few direct questions. First, Ms. Brunner mentioned the creation of a 
homeowners’ association for a CRD because someone needs to maintain the open space. He asked 

Page 49 of 78



whether Ms. Brunner was referring to the conservation space or just generic open areas in the CRD. 
Ms. Brunner said at least 50% of the land must be dedicated open space, which she said is its own 
separate parcel of land, which they are referring to as the open space lot. This was not just about 
common space, but the open space dedicated to conservation. The Vice Chair continued referring to 
many of Matthew Hall’s points during the public hearing about the State’s guidelines. The Vice Chair 
spent time reading the State’s document and he thought there was come confusion with how they 
were defining percentages and whether they were discussing conserving 50% of the buildable area 
and 80% of the non-buildable area, or 50% of the whole lot. Ms. Brunner said it was hard to compare 
to the State’s handbook because it was not comparing apples to apples. The Handbook guidelines 
come from the State statute, but they are not regulations, and the handbook recognizes that every 
community is unique. She said that what the handbook recommends does not necessarily make 
sense for Keene. She referred to the Hillside Protection Ordinance, for example, which is an overlay 
district in the Zoning Code and if someone wants a variance from these overlay districts, they must 
receive that from the Zoning Board of Adjustment. This is a very high bar to reach with strong 
protections, which the CRD sits on top of. To identify open space in Keene, an applicant must identify 
all primary conservation areas and show them on the plan. All of the primary conservation areas 
must be places in open space, though they do not have to be contiguous. She said it can be very 
difficult to work around these constraints in the Rural District. She reiterated that these were hard 
things to compare because they were not apples to apples. Ms. Brunner said Keene places a high 
priority on ensuring those environmentally sensitive areas are conserved. She added that part of why 
the Handbook recommended 50% buildable space be conserved is to protect prime agriculture and 
forested uplands that are already identified for primary conservation in Keene. There is the 
Agricultural District and the Conservation District, and neither are eligible for a CRD. Ms. Brunner 
agreed that CRD regulations are complex and difficult to grasp in just one meeting. Still, she said the 
way those regulations are structured provides a lot of protections. Ms. Brunner added that those 
areas identified in the State Wildlife Action Plan are secondary conservation areas in a Keene CRD. 
While they have less protection than primary conservation areas, the applicant must demonstrate 
that they have minimized all secondary conservation impacts to the extent possible, which is a part of 
the Planning Board review of the application.  Vice Chair Giacomo summarized that the State 
recommendation is 80% non-buildable land and the City was doing 50% of the whole lot, which can 
vary based on the nature of the land. He said the most valuable land is being conserved. He added 
that there is the Wildlife Action Plan that NFI provides a GIS overlay for, which showed there are 
maybe only four properties not in conservation already that would be eligible. He said this seems 
pretty protective, more so than it did at first glance. 
 
Chair Bosley said that after discussing this a few times, she thought Keene was doing a really great 
job of taking the right steps to protect the things that are important to us. To her, the CRDs are a 
prime example of how to do that in the best way possible, with a good portion of these lands 
dedicated to conservation, helping to maintain green space in the Rural District. 
  
Councilor Jones congratulated Staff for being very transparent through this whole process even 
thought it was confusing to the public. He said Staff put their best work into this. He said his mind 
was not changed yet. He asked a question from the Comprehensive Master Plan under the CRD, 
where it says that “within these areas there are opportunities to transfer the right to develop parcels 
to other areas in the community that are more appropriate for development. He asked if that was 
about mitigation. Ms. Brunner said that was in the future land use section of the Master Plan and 
means that if the City has identified areas where they think development is more or less desirable it 
is a program to develop a sending area and receiving area within the City; if a developer were 
working in receiving area, they could purchase development rights from someone in the sending area 
that the owner of the parcel in the sending areas gives up their right to develop the parcel though a 
financial transaction and then the developer in the receiving area gets additional units. She said it 
was a way to promote infill and protect environmentally sensitive areas. So, Councilor Jones said 

Page 50 of 78



that was another piece of legislation that had nothing to do with this. Ms. Brunner said that had 
nothing to do with CRD but was something Staff were exploring with the current housing needs 
analysis and that it was something the community would likely be receptive to, like they were when 
compiling the Master Plan in 2010. 
 
Chair Bosley said she was excited to hear that language because there have been talks about 
opportunities and maybe this should be on the short list of topics for the Joint Committee.   
 
Vice Chair Giacomo said he had many conversations about this over the past few months and he 
lives in the Rural District. A lot of his neighbors have shown up to the public hearings. He said he 
moved to the Rural District for a reason, which was to have fewer people around; the whole point 
was that he did not want to be in a development. He fully understood the sentiment to protect the 
land around us, saying it was critical to him and the history of land conservation in Keene. He cited 
Zoning changes that occurred closer to the downtown core and then branched out. He thought the 
City needed to figure out ways to encourage development across the board in Keene instead of 
singling out the Rural District. He said this was not just saying “okay there is empty land, let’s use it,” 
but rather, this is a later stage in a long process of prioritizing areas the City does not want to build 
up more. He agreed that we need more of all types of housing everywhere. The Vice Chair said this 
is opposed to a developer being able to build and conserve no land. In the case of a CRD, at least 
50% would be guaranteed and conserved. He understood that development in general was not 
something the Rural District loved to see, but at least this is a way to do so that is more consistent 
with City goals. 
 
 
Chair Bosley said she was not done looking at the different districts and noted that there are parking 
rules in some areas that prevent additional density in the downtown core and surrounding 
neighborhoods. She said at some point the City would have to look at that.  She said this would not 
solve all problems but was a step forward. She thought this was for the health of the City as a whole. 
 
The City Attorney, Tom Mullins, provided clarification on the motion. 
  
Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which was duly seconded by Councilor Ormerod. 
 
On a vote of 3–1, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the adoption of 
Ordinance O-2022-09-B, and the revision of Section 19.3.6.C.1.b regarding workforce housing 
resale value, as discussed by the Committee. Councilor Jones voted in opposition. 

Page 51 of 78



Page 52 of 78



Page 53 of 78



Page 54 of 78



Page 55 of 78



Page 56 of 78



Page 57 of 78



O-2022-09-B 

1 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Twenty-Two 
 

Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Code 
 
 
 
 
That Chapter 100 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Keene, New Hampshire, as amended, is hereby 
further amended by deleting the stricken text and adding the bolded and underlined text, as follows: 
 

1. That Section 3.1.5 “Permitted Uses” of Article 3 be amended to display “Dwelling, Two-
Family / Duplex” and “Dwelling, Multifamily” as permitted uses by a Conservation 
Residential Development Subdivision in the Rural District. 

2. That Section 3.3.5 “Permitted Uses” of Article 3 be amended to display “Dwelling, Two-
Family / Duplex” and “Dwelling, Multifamily” as permitted uses by a Conservation 
Residential Development Subdivision in the Low Density District. 

3. That Section 3.4.5 “Permitted Uses” of Article 3 be amended to display “Dwelling, Two-
Family / Duplex” and “Dwelling, Multifamily” as permitted uses by a Conservation 
Residential Development Subdivision in the Low Density 1 District. 

4. Update Table 8-1 “Permitted Principal Uses by Zoning District” in Article 8 to display 
“Dwelling, Two-Family / Duplex” and “Dwelling, Multifamily” as permitted uses by a 
Conservation Residential Development Subdivision in the Rural, Low Density, and Low-
Density 1 Districts. 

5. That Section 19.3.2.C “Density” of Article 19 be amended as follows: 

C. Density. The maximum number of dwelling units allowed within a conservation residential 
development subdivision shall be determined by dividing the total area of the existing tract by the 
density factor per dwelling unit specified in Table 19-2. 

1. The number of dwelling units allowed within a conservation residential development subdivision shall 
be determined by dividing the total area of the existing tract by the density factor per dwelling unit 
specified in Table 19-2. 

2. A density bonus may be granted to developments that meet the criteria for one or more of the 
density incentives detailed in Section 19.3.6. In no instance shall a total density bonus of more than 
30% above the standard allowable density be granted to any single development. This section shall 
not be waivable. 

6. That Table 19-1 “Dimensional Requirements for Conservation Residential Development 
Subdivisions” in Article 19 be amended to change the minimum lot area for the Rural 
District from 1 acre to 32,000 square feet. 
 

Page 58 of 78



O-2022-09-B 

2 

 

 

7. That Table 19-1 “Dimensional Requirements for Conservation Residential Development 
Subdivisions” in Article 19 be amended to add a footnote that states “New lots in the Rural 
District that are created as part of a CRD that are less than 1 acre in size may utilize an 
approved Subsurface Disposal System.” 

8. Remove Section 19.3.2.D “Open Space Reserve,” sub-section 2 of Article 19, which sates 
“Conservation residential development subdivisions in the Rural zoning district that 
permanently reserve 60% of the existing tract area or greater as open space shall be eligible 
for a density bonus, as noted in Table 19-2.” 

9. That Table 19-2 “Density & Open Space Requirements” in Article 19 be amended as 
follows: 

Zoning District Density Factor per 
Dwelling Unit1 

Min Open Space 

Rural 4 acres 2 acres 50% 

3 acres 60% 

Low Density-1  
(without city 
water) 

1 acre 50% 

Low Density-1  
(with city water) 

20,000 sf 50% 

Low Density 10,000 sf 50% 
1 Density bonus(es) may be granted as specified in 
Section 19.3.6 

10. That Table 19-3 “Conservation Residential Development Permitted Uses” be amended as 
follows: 

Permitted Use Rural 
District 

Low 
Density-1 
District 

Low Density 
District  

Single-Family 
Dwelling 

P P P 

Two-Family 
Dwelling 

P P P 

Multifamily 
Dwelling 

P1 (max of 3 
dwelling 
units per 
structure) 

P1 (max of 3 
dwelling 
units per 
structure) 

P (max of 6 
dwelling 
units per 
structure) 

"P" = Permitted Use " - " = Use Not Permitted 
P1 = Use permitted with workforce housing density 
incentive  

11. That a new Section entitled “Optional Density Incentives” be added after Section 19.3.5 of 
Article 19, as follows: 

 

Page 59 of 78



O-2022-09-B 

3 

 

 

Section 19.3.6: Optional Density Incentives 

Conservation Residential Development Subdivisions that meet certain performance criteria 
shall be eligible for a density bonus above the standard allowable density, up to a maximum 
of 30%. The 30% density cap shall not be waivable. If a density incentive is granted, the 
minimum lot size specified in Table 19-1 shall be waived. 

A.  Open Space Density Incentive. Conservation Residential Development Subdivisions with a 
minimum tract size of 10 acres that permanently reserve at least 65% of the existing tract 
area as open space shall be eligible for a density bonus of 10% or one dwelling unit, 
whichever is greater. 

B. Solar Density Incentive. Conservation Residential Development Subdivisions that meet the 
following criteria shall be eligible for a density bonus of 10% or one dwelling unit, 
whichever is greater: 

1.  At least 50% of the lots shall be solar-oriented. A "solar-oriented lot" shall mean a lot 
with its longest lot line dimension oriented to within thirty (30) degrees of a true east-
west line. 

2. The long axis of all dwelling units on solar-oriented lots shall be oriented so that the 
long axis faces within 20 degrees of true south. 

3.  At least four (4) kilowatts of solar PV shall be installed for each dwelling unit on a solar-
oriented lot. 

4.  Where, as determined by the City, topographic, environmental, and soil conditions, and 
existing street configurations permit, the predominant pattern of new streets in 
subdivisions subject to this section shall be oriented within thirty (30) degrees of east-
west orientation. 

C.  Workforce Housing Density Incentive. Conservation Residential Development Subdivisions 
that meet the criteria below shall be eligible for a density bonus of 20% or one dwelling 
unit, whichever is greater. In addition, the permitted uses for a development that meets 
this section in the Rural District or Low Density-1 District shall include “multifamily 
dwelling” (max of 3 units per structure). 

1.  Workforce Housing, Owner-Occupied. A Workforce Housing Density Incentive will be 
granted to developments that guarantee the following: 

a.  Twenty percent (20%) or more of the units constructed will be sold at initial sale for 
a price that can be afforded by a household with an income not more than 80% of 
the HUD Median Area Income for a family of four in Cheshire County. 

b.  Units will be sold with a deed restriction and recorded housing agreement that 
names an Income Verification Agent who will verify that the purchaser meets the 
income requirements. For a period of 30 years, Tthe resale value of the unit shall be 
restricted to either the affordable purchase price or for a period of 30 years. The 
resale value of the unit is not to be more than the original purchase price plus two 
times the accumulated consumer price index, whichever is greater.. 

b. Units will be sold with a deed restriction and recorded housing agreement that 
names an Income Verification Agent who will verify that the purchaser meets the 

Page 60 of 78



O-2022-09-B 

4 

 

 

income requirements.  For a period of 30 years, the resale value of the unit shall be 
restricted to either the affordable purchase price or the original purchase price plus 
two times the accumulated consumer price index, whichever is greater. 

c.  All units built under this provision shall be of the same approximate size, character, 
quality, and construction as the market rate units, and shall be distributed evenly 
throughout the project. 

d.  Affordability shall be defined as housing that can be purchased under a 
conventional mortgage whereby the combined annual expenses for principal, 
interest, property taxes, homeownerʼs insurance and condominium fees (if 
applicable) will not exceed 30% of household income. 

2.  Workforce Housing, Rental. A Workforce Housing Density Incentive will be granted to 
developments that guarantee the following: 

a.  Twenty percent (20%) or more of the units constructed will be rented for a price 
that can be afforded by a household with an income not more than 60% of the 
HUD Median Area Income for a family of three in Cheshire County. 

b. Units will be rented with a deed restriction and recorded housing agreement that 
names an Income Verification Agent who will verify that the renter meets the 
income requirements. The rental value of the unit shall be restricted to the 
affordable rental price for a period of 30 years. 

c. All units built under this provision shall be of the same approximate size, 
character, quality, and construction as the market rate units, and shall be evenly 
distributed throughout the project. 

d. Affordability shall be defined as housing that can be rented whereby the 
combined annual rental and utility expenses will not exceed 30% of household 
income. 

3.  Assurance of Continued Affordability. In order to qualify as workforce housing under 
this section, the application shall make a binding commitment that the dwelling units 
will remain affordable for a period of 30 years. This shall be enforced through a deed 
restriction, restrictive covenant, or some other contractual arrangement through a 
local, state or federal housing authority or other non-profit housing trust or agency to 
administer this provision. No dwelling unit created by this bonus shall be occupied 
until written confirmation of the income eligibility of the tenant or buyer of the unit 
has been documented. 

 
12. That Section 25.10.5 “Submittal Requirements,” sub-section C “Conservation Residential 

Development Subdivision Applications” of Article 25 be amended as follows: 

In addition to the submittal requirements for a subdivision or boundary line adjustment in Section 
25.10.5.B, a completed application for a proposed conservation residential development subdivision 
shall include the following.  

1.  An overview plan (1-copy on 22-in by 34-in paper or larger size; 1-copy on 11-in by 17- in paper; 
and, an electronic pdf file), which displays the entire tract and any existing public roads, public or 

Page 61 of 78



O-2022-09-B 

5 

 

 

private protected lands, woodlands areas, surface waters, and precautionary or prohibitive slopes 
located within 200-ft of the tract.  

2.  An existing conditions plan displaying the location of primary and secondary conservation values 
as defined in Section 19.3 of this LDC.  

3.  A yield analysis (1-copy on 22-in by 34-in paper or larger size; 1-copy on 11-in by 17-in paper; 
and, an electronic pdf file) to determine the number of residential units that may be permitted 
within a conservation residential development subdivision. Although this plan shall be drawn to 
scale, it need not be based upon a field survey. The yield analysis may be prepared as an overlay 
to the existing conditions plan. 

a.  The yield analysis shall be performed by applying a conventional subdivision layout, including 
lots conforming to the dimensional standards of the underlying zoning district and streets 
needed to access such lots. The conventional layout shall reflect a development density and 
pattern, taking into account surface waters, floodplains, steep slopes, existing easements or 
encumbrances, and the suitability of soils for private subsurface wastewater disposal if City 
sewer service is not available. 

4 3.  A proposed conditions plan including the following.  

a.  The area(s) designated as Open Space, any common land and any specifically protected 
conservation values.  

b.  Any proposed uses of the Open Space (e.g. agriculture, recreation, forestry, etc.) and/or 
common lands shall be noted on the plan.  

c.  The location and dimensions of any proposed roads, sidewalks, and trails.  

5 4.  A landscaping plan (1-copy on 22-in by 34-in paper or larger size; 1-copy on 11-in by 17-in paper; 
and, an electronic pdf file) providing the following information:  

a.  The location of existing wooded and vegetated areas and proposed changes to the outline of 
these areas.  

b.  The location, species and size of all landscaping materials proposed to be installed on the site, 
including street trees.  

c.  A table listing all plant species to be installed on the site, indicating the size (average height 
and width) at planting and at maturity as well as the number of each species to be installed. 

6 5.  Written documentation of the process applied by the applicant in the layout of the proposed 
conservation residential development subdivision to ensure that proposed or future 
development does not adversely impact primary and secondary conservation areas as defined in 
Section 19.3 of this LDC. 

6. Applications that include a request for the Solar Density Incentive in Section 19.3.6.B 
shall include the following information: 

a. A written request for the density incentive that describes how the application meets 
the requirements of Section 19.3.6.B. 

Page 62 of 78



O-2022-09-B 

6 

 

 

b. A solar access plan that displays the building areas or locations of structures on all 
solar-oriented lots in order to demonstrate that it would be possible to site a structure 
which is unshaded by other nearby structures, site features, or topography. This solar 
access plan shall demonstrate that the building areas or structures on solar-oriented 
lots are not obscured by any vegetation, building, or object for a minimum of four 
hours between the hours of 9:00 AM and 3:00 PM Standard time on any day of the 
year. This plan may be included as an overlay to the subdivision plan or site plan, if 
required. 

7.  Applications that include a request for the Workforce Housing Density Incentive in 
Section 19.3.6.C shall include the following information: 

a.  A written request for the density incentive that includes a calculation of the number of 
units provided under this section and a description of each unitʼs size, type, number of 
bedrooms, estimated cost, location within the development, and other relevant data. 

c.  Written statement describing how the proposed development will meet the 
requirements of Section 19.3.6.C.3. 

d.  The Planning Board shall request additional information if, in their judgment, it is 
necessary to determine whether the requirements of Section 19.3.6.C have been met. 

 
 

13. That Section 25.10.9 “Filing,” sub-section C of Article 25 be amended as follows: 

C.  For approved conservation residential development subdivision applications, applicants shall also 
submit written documentation of any legal instruments required for the management of the 
designated Open Space land to the Community Development Department. In addition, 
applicants shall submit written documentation of any legal instruments required to 
demonstrate compliance with the criteria of any and all optional density incentives 
granted by the Planning Board. Such documents shall be submitted to the Community 
Development Department and are subject to the review and approval of the City Attorney prior 
to signature. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
George S. Hansel, Mayor 

Page 63 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.2. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Code - Zoning 

Ordinance - Business, Growth, and Reuse District – 
Recreational/Entertainment Facility – Indoor 
Ordinance O-2022-11  

     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the adoption of 
Ordinance O-2022-11. 
  
Attachments: 
1. Ordinance O-2022-11_Referral 
  
  
Background: 
Chair Bosley requested comments from the Community Development Director, Jesse Rounds. Mr. 
Rounds said this change to the Business, Growth, and Reuse (BGR) District would allow for some 
additional uses that are related to the existing permitted uses in terms of the process brought forward 
in August 2022. He said that there was no comment at the most recent public hearing before the City 
Council. Mr. Rounds welcomed questions.  
  
Chair Bosley recalled that there was a public hearing on this matter at the last City Council meeting, 
so there would be no further comments allowed at this meeting.  
  
Vice Chair Giacomo made the following motion, which Councilor Ormerod duly seconded.  
  
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the adoption of 
Ordinance O-2022-11. 
  

Page 64 of 78



Page 65 of 78

hfitz-simon
Typewritten Text
In City Council August 18, 2022.Referred to the Joint Planning Board/Planning, Licenses and Development Committee.

hfitz-simon_1
Typewritten Text
Deputy City Clerk



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.3. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to the Use of Central Square Common and Railroad Square 

Ordinance O-2022-14-A 
 

     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the adoption of 
Ordinance O-2022-14 to incorporate the proposed amendments as discussed by the Committee. 
  
Attachments: 
1. Ordinance O-2022-14-A 
  
  
Background: 
Chair Bosley heard from the City Attorney, Tom Mullins, who said this was for all intents and 
purposes a housekeeping matter. During some Ordinance review while preparing for a community 
event, Staff discovered inconsistencies with respect to the granting of a license for the use of the 
Downtown Central Square Commons and Railroad Square for community events. Essentially, when 
that license if granted, it says the holder of the license has the authority to regulate the uses within 
that area. Unfortunately, though, other sections of the Code of Ordinances provided that because 
Central Square and Railroad Square were public places generally, that no individual entity could 
claim exclusive rights to those. So, there was a conflict. Thus, Staff submitted this Ordinance to 
resolve the conflict and clarify that when a community event license is issued, that the license holder 
has supervision control within the area, but the City still has exclusive control in the area. There was 
concern that the original language in the Ordinance was too broad and so the changes were made to 
ensure that the City retained its rights to authority, supervision, and control as it says in Section 46-
1007 and to ensure that licensees have to comply with requirements of City officials for event 
operation.  
  
The Director of Public Works, Kürt Blomquist, agreed and reiterated the City Attorney’s explanation. 
He recalled an issue last year with a group wanting to express their thoughts publicly. Another 
license event brought this issue forward and so the license language had been adjusted to ensure 
the City retains its ability, if necessary, to require things for the general public’s health and safety. For 
example, if the Police determine that extra security is required, the licensee would be responsible for 
that cost. This cleaned-up a potential conflict.  

Page 66 of 78



  
Chair Bosley understood that the City was looking into alternate locations for people who would like 
to express their personal beliefs. The Director of Public Works agreed that part of the conversation 
was designating a place where people can express their beliefs while events are occurring. The 
common has traditionally been the area of free thoughts and could be something again. He would 
continue working with the City Attorney about designating such a space.  
  
Vice Chair Giacomo noted that most of the changes were the difference between the words “permit” 
and “license.” He asked the difference between the two. The City Attorney replied that a “permit” is 
for something like using the pergola in the park whereas a “license” is much more involved and has 
insurance requirements. Councilor Jones noted that there are criteria within a license for things like 
parking spacing and more, and the licensee is subject to the City Code that has authority with 
respect to the uses. The City Attorney said not necessarily be included in the licenses because the 
licenses spells out all other aspects. This clarifies in the Code that licensees has authority regarding 
the uses. The Chair asked for this in laymen’s terms that the license holder would not have to allow 
potential protestors inside the licensed areas and the City Attorney replied yes. The City Attorney 
said this was really to clarify that the license holder really does have control over what happens in the 
designated area. The Public Works Director said this applied to other things like café licenses and 
other activities that the Council has granted through the City Code. This would suspend those other 
licenses during larger licensed events, like a pumpkin festival, because both cannot be managed at 
the same time, and giving the licensee the authority to demand that during their events.  
  
Vice Chair Giacomo recalled challenges when the Food Fest was the same day as the Art Walk a 
few years ago. This clarified several of those issues.  
  
Hearing no public comments, Chair Bosley entertained a motion by Councilor Ormerod, which was 
duly seconded by Councilor Jones.  
  
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the adoption of 
Ordinance O-2022-14 to incorporate the proposed amendments as discussed by the Committee. 

Page 67 of 78



Page 68 of 78



Page 69 of 78



Page 70 of 78



 

CITY OF KEENE 
NEW HAMPSHIRE 

 
ITEM #J.4. 

 
     
Meeting Date: November 17, 2022 
    
To: Mayor and Keene City Council 
    
From: Planning, Licenses and Development Committee, Standing Committee 
    
Through: 

 

     
Subject: Relating to Notice Requirements for Small Cell Wireless Facility 

Deployments  and  More Time Item - Communications relative to Public 
Health Concerns of Small Cell Wireless Facilities 
Ordinance O-2022-16-A 

     
  
Recommendation: 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends adopting the 
amendment of Ordinance O-2022-16 to include the 750-foot notification radius in Section 82-208.5 
and specifically that the applicant must pay the cost of the notice in Chapter 82-208.5 
 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends adopting 
Ordinance O-2022-16-A. 
 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the more time 
issue regarding communications from Councilor Filiault and Terry Clark relative to public health 
concerns of small cell wireless facilities be reported out. 
  
Attachments: 
1. Ordinance O-2022-16-A 
2. Ordinance O-2022-16-A_redlined 
  
  
Background: 
Chair Bosley heard from the City Manager, Elizabeth Dragon. The City Manager recalled that the 
Committee had a letter on more time for a long while regarding public health concerns of small cell 
wireless facilities and possible revisions to Ordinance O-2019-18-A At the committee’s meeting in 
October there was public comment and the Committee agreed to make an amendment related to the 
distance of notice for requirements when a facility is installed. Based on those testimonies, this 
Ordinance change to Section 82-207—Application Requirements, increases the notification distance 
from a 300-foot radius to a 750-foot radius. The amendment also clarifies that it is the applicant's 
responsibility to pay for the cost of mailings separate from the application fee. The 750-foot figure 
was chosen because that is the minimum distance allowed between these facilities; it made sense 
not to overlap notice requirements to reduce confusion. 
  

Page 71 of 78



Councilor Ormerod thought 750 feet was half the distance. The City Attorney confirmed that it is 750 
feet between facilities. 
  
Councilor Jones said he asked for this amendment and was pleased with it. 
  
Vice Chair Giacomo said he would be voting against this for the same reason he did at the last 
committee meeting, because he does not see the reason for increasing the distance, while he 
supports transparency. He said it is really no different than a lamp post and, in fact, created lower 
frequency radiation than a lamp post. He said that creating changes to an Ordinance based on a 
“disinformation campaign” did not make sense to him. He thought the 300-foot radius was 
reasonable and said that they could not notice everyone. The Vice Chair would not support adopting 
this amendment despite enjoying the transparency it was trying to promote. 
  
Councilor Ormerod agreed that they were not meaning to suggest that there is something more 
dangerous about this than a lamp post. What the Councilor liked about the 750-foot radius was the 
fact that the City could provide facts directly to all residents in the area, instead of a smaller 
notification that might get distorted when discussed without all of the facts. He thought this 
accomplished the goal of more transparency and more direct communication. The Councilor would 
vote in favor. 
  
Chair Bosley opened the floor to public comment. 
  
Ann Savastano of 75 Winter Street supported the Ordinance to increase the notification distance. 
She also requested that there be greater notice of these installments so the public can make 
comments, citing a recent application she did not get to comment on until later in the process. She 
listed her concerns. She encouraged the Council and this Committee to review the final report of the 
Commission to Study the Environmental Health Effects of Evolving 5G Technology that was 
commissioned by the State Legislature through HB 522. She believed the City Council may have 
reviewed some of the 390-page report released in November 2020. She said the Commission had 
members from physics, occupational health, tax, ecology, public health, policy, business and law, 
and more. She recommended a webinar from the Americans for Responsible Technology that is 
geared toward municipalities, which called 5G “an undeniable risk.” She said this was very evidence-
based science. She said there is evidence that suggests that optic fiber is better in many ways. She 
said Keene is already saturated in 4G and more towers were not needed. She said pervasive 5G 
poles threaten pollinators, birds, and the environment in general. She urged consideration if the 
Committee cared about conservation and human health. 
 
Councilor Jones mentioned that this Committee did a thorough review of the Commission report and 
had members of the majority and minority before this Committee to speak on it, so the Council was 
well aware. Chair Bosley agreed and asked the exact timeframe in the Ordinance for notifications 
and the Public Works process. The Director of Public Works, Kürt Blomquist, said that once the 
application is complete, they can issue the notification letter and he usually provides 14 days for 
comments to be returned. 
  
Ruth Ellen Davidson of 656 Main Street read a statement: 
I understand that the FCC specifies that health considerations cannot be a reason for municipal code. However, as 
City government, you are supposed to look out for our health and safety, and should take this into account, please, 
when deciding to exercise the powers you have under the Telecommunications Act of 1996. I am an alternate 
healthcare provider and several of my patients have concerns regarding RF and EMF frequencies that may be in 
my office. Some of them have brought their own frequency readers to their appointments to test levels. Currently, 
my office space is free and clear with the exception of a patient’s or my own cell phone. She does not have a 
modem in her office, and I keep my cell phone in airplane mode to preserve the highest level of health and well-
being, and she asks her patients to do the same and I take time to explain to them why I have made this request. 

Page 72 of 78



5G is more harmful to the wellness of humans than 3G and 4G. Turning off a cellphone or modem, or putting them 
in airplane mode, will not mitigate the damage to residents of the City of Keene due to the necessity of closely 
placed 5G towers to send signals. I ask you to exercise the power you have under the Telecommunications Act of 
1996. 
 
Melissa White of Peterborough works at 16 Church Street and said the legal exposure limits for 
radiation have not changed in over a quarter century. In that time, five generations of radio frequency 
had been developed. She said might say the towers alone are safe but she stated that was 
questionable because it is the industry doing the studies. She said we must take into account the 
cumulative effect of all the sources of radiation in the environment; we live in a toxic soup of 
radiation. She cited an instance in downtown Peterborough. She said the health effects of wireless 
radiation are well-documented in animal and human studies. She said to look around and just see 
that people are sick. She continued that something is wrong, citing prominence of various illnesses, 
suggesting looking in our schools at hyperactivity, asthma, autism, and more. She wanted to address 
Vice Chair Giacomo’s use of the term “disinformation,” stating “Just please stop, and that goes for all 
of us, like stop with that. There’s so many great scientists out there that are saying hold on, hold on, 
we can’t do this.” 
 
Castine Clerkin of 137 Silent Way works in the public health field, specifically with cancer registries 
across the nation, and determining health outcomes of exposures from existing studies. She said two 
of those studies include a congressionally mandated study of aviators in the military. This is a cohort 
of 10.9 million individuals looking to link with cancer registries and see if there are health effects from 
ionizing radiation. There is another study on an American exposed to radiation in their job duties. She 
said these studies are congressionally mandated at the Federal level, indicating that there is concern 
about radiation exposure. She encouraged this Committee to do as much as possible to inform the 
community when these radiation emitting devises are established around the community, so people 
can take the necessary measures to protect their health. She concluded that we may not be able to 
stop the implementation of 5G, but could at least be notified to take those measures. 
 
Councilor Giacomo appreciated those studies cited, noting that two of his brothers were among those 
aviators and clarifying that 5G is actually non-ionizing, so it is unrelated. 
 
John Aruda of 31 Summer Street cited the nearby tower and the many children living around it. 
Whether people believe it is bad or good, he said there were too many question marks online for him 
when he would be living within 100 feet of one. He thought there must be a better place, like around 
commercial buildings. He said fiber optic is another way. He did not think people were advocating for 
the children near these devices. He cited past common uses like lead paint and Teflon that were 
eventually revealed as unsafe because there was not previously enough research on them. Mr. 
Aruda said that he was happy Councilor Jones was present, after reading some of his comments on 
social media about this in the past, when he said this was an obvious issue the community was 
concerned about. As a new member of the community, he said these devices were not attracting new 
families to the area. He asked for more time and research from people not associated with the 
financial gains. 
 
Ruth Vanentia of School Street had not spoken before the City Council in 10 years. She was a 
former City Councilor. She cited a new tower on School Street, stating that she only found out about 
it a few days ago. She said she did not have the research but that she had been a good member of 
the community for over 40 years and to find something like this going into a very important downtown 
neighborhood was distressing. She said the people on the street did not know about it. She 
supported the 750-foot radius, but she wanted it doubled because she thought more people were 
affected by it. 
 

Page 73 of 78



John Schmitt of 31 Green Acres Road agreed with everyone who had testified already about the 5g 
dangers, stating that a lot of scientists and doctors are talking about it, but he said of course they are 
censored just like the discussion of vaccines. “They don’t want to tell you about the hazards and then 
they just shoot you down.  Mr. Schmitt thought this should be discussed and that there should be a 
public hearing to let people discuss their concerns about 5G before more of these are installed in 
town. He was not interested in a notification and wanted an opportunity to stop these things if 
possible. He would have to move if one were erected in front of his house, at which point he 
imagined his property value would be diminished. He suggested a public hearing instead of saying 
this is disinformation.   
 
Chair Bosley explained that this Committee had been discussing this since 2019 and the Ordinance 
would not have been adopted without an official public hearing. So, there was a process when a lot 
of testimony was heard, and the FCC regulations were discussed in-depth. The Committee 
considered the tests, recommendations, impacts, and the City’s legal authority to restrict the 
implementation of these towers. She understood that as these were arriving in neighborhoods, a new 
energy had been created on the topic and questions from people who might not have been aware of 
the whole process that happened. She said the Council wants the feedback and that any Ordinance 
is a living document that can be reviewed. Still, she cited limitations based on what the Federal 
government says, so the City was working within many different constraints. 
 
Jennifer Zoll of 18 Summer Street read the following statement: 
I would like to request more time for this issue to be explored before decisions are made. In my own research, 
respected organizations such as the American Cancer Society, National Institute of Health, and the World Health 
Organization all agreed that there is a need for more unbiased research on any potential dangers from living in 
close proximity to 5G towers due to lack of research. They all suggest limiting exposure near homes, schools, and 
hospitals until this exposure might be proven saft. I would also like to register a complaint at the lack of notification 
to the tower placement, which is being discussed as being placed one house away from ours. We were also not 
notified, except by neighbors.  
 
Ben Robertson of 62 Roxbury Street is a member of the industry as an agent for Verizon Wireless. 
Last month, he was at the Verizon Innovation Center in Boston by invitation, where they 
demonstrated a huge number of really incredible technologies based on 5G. He urged the Council to 
do anything in their power to limit the industry’s ability to spread this technology widely in our 
community. He thought it was fantastic technology with a lot of potentially huge benefits for people, 
and he sells it, but if someone put one in front of his home he would not want to live there anymore. 
He had taken great solace in the fact that there is one tower on Beech Hill and not in the downtown. 
He cited the emissions from the various technologies in his life and having measured the EMF 
frequencies in his home to determine the risk. He does not want to see cancers rise in the 
community. He urged the committee to do everything in their power to err on the side of caution. 
 
Merrick Finn of 48 South Street and his wife moved here a year ago. He is a beekeeper and was 
observing bee colony collapse disorder, which arose in beehives in the last 10 years, and is 
contributing to serious disorders among bees and birds that provide our food stock. He said this was 
a serious concern and that there was a growing body of literature on the EMF radiation and growing 
evidence of harm from wireless non-ionizing radiation, such as from cell phone towers. He cited 
studies showing the detrimental effects of EMF on insects and birds and a broad spectrum of 
behavior and physiological issues of concern. He said that through 4G, the emissions had not risen 
above six gigahertz and the new 5G technology utilizes 120 gigahertz, which is even more 
detrimental to birds and insects such as honeybees that could cause catastrophic collapse. 
 
Ms. Savastano spoke again, stating that she heard the history the Chair provided, but said there was 
no Ordinance submitted at that time based on some of the health concerns. She believed it was 
prepared by Attorney Lori Schrier and labeled O-2019-18-A, adopted by the Council as the 

Page 74 of 78



Ordinance on small cell wireless facilities under Article 8. She did not understand the reasons why it 
was removed and thought it was due to a setback around residential areas, schools, and daycares. 
She believed that Provision C.7-a of the 1996 Telecommunications Act gave municipalities the 
authority to determine location of these facilities as well as (she thought) the number of towers that 
could be installed. She said Lori Schrier took care to follow the FCC regulations so the City would not 
be sued. She was unsure why that was changed back again to the current Ordinance, which does 
not allow for any setbacks. She cited a document submitted to the City Clerk the day of this meeting 
saying that it is up to the municipality to test for these emissions. She would like the Council to take a 
closer look at all of her research on the benefits of optic fiber over these installations. 
 
Chair Bosley asked the City Attorney about the suggestions about a 2018 Ordinance. The City 
Attorney said that was not an entirely accurate representation given. What happened during that 
period was that suggested revisions were submitted and considered in the process. When Section 82 
Article 7 in our code was finally adopted, which is the small cell wireless Ordinance, there were 
suggested revisions during consideration. The Ordinance that was finally adopted is the one that is in 
place today. It was not adopted and then revoked. He reiterated that the original draft language was 
written by the Community Development Department based on ordinances from around the country 
and keeping in mind the FCC requirements. Chair Bosley said that if Ms. Schrier did submit 
something, it would have just been taken under review as a part of the process. It was not formally 
adopted, for clarification. 
 
Chair Bosley continued that per the FCC regulations, if the City did not have a Small Cell Ordinance 
in place, they would have no mechanism to control the placement, appearance, or anything to do 
with the facilities, and companies could do anything they please. With an Ordinance in place, it 
allows the City to at least have minimal control in that Ordinance. The Chair was one that asked for 
those setbacks in the Ordinance, which were implemented, and there are limits on how near these 
facilities can be to daycares, hospitals, and schools. So, she thought the City tried to be forward 
thinking. She certainly read  through the State Commission’s study, which she said focused on why 
to have these technologies and less so on the specific frequencies. She said that report did indicate 
that wireless signals have potential health considerations, and the City was making these decisions 
understanding that we all are bathed in radiation in our daily lives. The City tried to balance the 
Federal guidelines with their community responsibilities—the City cannot regulate what goes on 
private properties. Chair Bosley said this technology is moving forward and, in her opinion, there 
needed to be as much concise City control as possible without overstepping the City’s bounds and 
putting the City in a potentially litigious situation. 
 
Councilor Ormerod clarified that the 750 feet is a notification, just like for leaf collection. This is only 
about increasing the notification distance. 
 
Councilor Jones thought this was important to everyone. What struck him was the reference to him 
on the 2001 Ordinance, which dealt with the view scape and was a totally different Ordinance. He 
heard a lot of people talk about the Telecommunications Act of 1996, which he was very familiar with. 
He thought the City had done everything it could. He said this was already allowed in the City and the 
City Council could not stop that. He thinks the Ordinance ensures that the facilities are spaced a part 
as far as possible in a way that could be defended in court. He said the notification process was also 
implemented and he did not know of anything else the City could do. Staff likely did not know either. 
Councilor Jones said we cannot stop them from being installed and the City had placed as many 
limitations as possible. At the last meeting, Councilor Jones recalled asking for the background notes 
that reflect a town called Ashby, MA, which has a monitor lending system from their library that 
people can borrow to test the levels in their homes or work, which he said was something for Staff to 
consider in the background notes. 
 

Page 75 of 78



The City Attorney clarified that there were two references in Chapter 82-208.5 that needed to be 
changed to 750 feet. 
 
A motion by Councilor Ormerod to recommend the amendment of Ordinance O-2022-16 to include 
the 750-foot notification radius in Section 82-208.5 and specifically that the applicant must pay the 
cost of the notice in Chapter 82-208.5, was duly seconded by Councilor Jones. 
 
Vice Chair Giacomo said he was convinced about getting the proper information out to the 
community and he would change his vote to yes. 
 
Chair Bosley recognized Ms. Savastano again who requested more advanced timing of the 
notifications, such as two weeks advanced notice. Chair Bosley believed that was a part of the Public 
Works Department process not spelled out in this Ordinance, so they could consider that and make 
adjustments as they see appropriate. 
 
Chair Bosley recognized Lucious Arcel of Marlboro, who cited HB-1644 as recommending a 15,440-
foot setback between towers. He said the matter at hand was about notification and not setbacks. He 
noted that this legislation was recently recommended for further study and his Committee on Science 
and Technology was looking at the situation as well. He asked where the 750-foot notification radius 
came from. Chair Bosley recalled the last meeting on this matter and the discussion that a 300-foot 
radius was insufficient. Additionally, according to the Ordinance, these installations cannot be closer 
to each other than 1,500 feet to maintain a working network, and so 750 feet would encompass 
almost everyone who could potentially be affected by the perimeter of radiation that would be 
expected to be emitted. Going over 750 feet risked people being double notified. The Chair had 
noticed that because this is so new, that when the towers are going into a neighborhood there is 
concern and no concern from other neighborhoods. Every time there is a new tower, a new group of 
citizens are educating themselves and coming before the Council. It would be easier if these 
individuals had received information from the City and had the resources to call and ask questions. 
She thought sharing information in a neighborhood group was great but that it was also important to 
come to the source of the facts. 
 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends adopting the 
amendment of Ordinance O-2022-16 to include the 750-foot notification radius in Section 82-208.5 
and specifically that the applicant must pay the cost of the notice in Chapter 82-208.5 
 
The following motion by Councilor Ormerod was duly seconded by Councilor Jones. 
 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends adopting 
Ordinance O-2022-16-A. 
 
On a vote of 4–0, the Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee recommends the more time 
issue regarding communications from Councilor Filiault and Terry Clark relative to public health 
concerns of small cell wireless facilities be reported out.  

Page 76 of 78



Page 77 of 78



Page 78 of 78


	 ROLL CALL
	 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
	 MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING
	 November 3, 2022
	November 3, 2022


	A. HEARINGS / PRESENTATIONS / PROCLAMATIONS
	1. Presentation - Promoting the Monadnock Region Init

	B. ELECTIONS / NOMINATIONS / APPOINTMENTS / CONFIRMATIONS
	1. Nominations - Alternates 
	Cover Sheet
	Maxfield, Lisa_Redacted
	Swymer, Kenneth_Redacted
	Stanish, Lee_Redacted


	C. COMMUNICATIONS
	1. Downtown Infrastructure Project – Inclusion of Pro
	Cover Sheet
	MAST Letter of Support_Keene DOWNTOWN INFRA NOV2022

	2. Efforts to Reduce the Risk of Lead Poisoning from 
	Cover Sheet
	Communication_Councilor Williams


	D. REPORTS - COUNCIL COMMITTEES
	1. Rules of Order Amendment – Quorum and Remote Parti
	Cover Sheet

	2. Donation - Trees at Patricia T. Russell Park  
	Cover Sheet

	3. Donation - to Build the Keene Skatepark  
	Cover Sheet

	4. 12 Gilbo Ave - Lease - Keene Barber  
	Cover Sheet

	5. Engineering Services for Sludge Pump Replacement P
	Cover Sheet


	E. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS
	F. REPORTS - CITY OFFICERS AND DEPARTMENTS
	1. Acceptance of Donation - Finance Director
	Cover Sheet

	2. Rules of Order Amendment – Remote Participation
	Cover Sheet
	SECTION_4.___Quorum and Remote Participation - Bold and Strike through
	SECTION_4.___Quorum and Remote Participation - Redlined Version


	G. REPORTS - BOARDS AND COMMISSIONS
	1. Bicycle, Pedestrian Path Advisory Committee – Emph
	Cover Sheet
	BPPAC Letter to City Council re Downtown Project 2022

	2. Energy and Climate Committee - Incorporation of Bi
	Cover Sheet
	Letter of Support_ECC_Bicycle Infrastructure


	H. REPORTS - MORE TIME
	I. ORDINANCES FOR FIRST READING
	1. Relating to Personal LeaveOrdinance O-2022-17
	Cover Sheet
	Ordinance O-2022-17


	J. ORDINANCES FOR SECOND READING
	1. Relating to Amendments to the City of Keene Land D
	Cover Sheet
	Ordinance O-2022-09-B
	Ordinance O-2022-09-B -  Redlined

	2. Relating to Amendments to the Land Development Cod
	Cover Sheet
	Ordinance O-2022-11_Referral

	3. Relating to the Use of Central Square Common and R
	Cover Sheet
	Ordinance O-2022-14-A

	4. Relating to Notice Requirements for Small Cell Wir
	Cover Sheet
	Ordinance O-2022-16-A
	Ordinance O-2022-16-A_redlined


	K. RESOLUTIONS
	 NON PUBLIC SESSION
	 ADJOURNMENT



